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UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT 
DISTRICT OF MINNESOTA 

 
In Re:              
 
CareFocus Corporation,          
              
                 Debtor.    

  

Case No. BKY 17-32654 

Chapter 11

 
 
CareFocus Corporation, 
 
  Plaintiff, 
        ADV. No. ________________ 
-vs.- 
 
U.S. Department of the Treasury,  
Bureau of the Fiscal Service, 
And  
U.S. Department of Health & 
Human Services, Centers for Medicare 
& Medicaid Services, 
 
  Defendants. 
 

 
VERIFIED COMPLAINT 

 
 
 CareFocus Corporation, as Debtor and Debtor in Possession, (“Plaintiff” or “Debtor”) by 

and through its undersigned legal counsel, Steven B. Nosek, P.A., as and for its cause of action 

against U.S. Department of the Treasury, Bureau of the Fiscal Service, (the “U.S. Treasury”) and 

U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services 

(“Medicare”) (jointly “Defendants”) states and alleges as follows: 

PARTIES 

1. Debtor filed for protection under Chapter 11, Title 11 of the United States 

Code (the “Bankruptcy Code”) in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the District of 
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Minnesota (this “Court”) on August 18, 2017 (the “Petition Date”), commencing the above-

referenced bankruptcy case (the “Bankruptcy Case”).  The Bankruptcy Case is currently 

pending before this Court.   

2. Defendant U.S. Treasury is a United States governmental agency with its 

principal offices located in Birmingham, AL 35283. 

3. Defendant U.S. Department of Health & Human Services is a United States 

governmental agency with its principal offices located at Hubert H. Humphrey Building, 200 

Independence Avenue, S.W., Washington, D.C. 20201. 

4. Defendant Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services is a United States 

governmental agency with its principal offices located at 7500 Security Blvd., Baltimore, MD 

21244-1850. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

5. This Court has jurisdiction over this adversary proceeding pursuant to 28 

U.S.C. §§ 157 and 1334, and 11 U.S.C. §§ 547, 550, and 551.  This Court has the authority to 

grant the relief requested herein.  This is a core proceeding pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §157(b)(2).  

Bankruptcy Rules 7001 et. seq. govern this proceeding. 

6. Venue in this Court is proper pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1408 and 1409. 

FACTUAL BACKGROUND 

7. The Debtor filed a Chapter 11 Bankruptcy in 2010, BKY No.:  10-30828.  The 

United States Bankruptcy Court for the District of Minnesota confirmed the Debtor’s Second 

Amended Plan of Reorganization on January 26, 2011.  A copy of the Order and Notice 

Confirming Second Amended Plan and Fixing Time Limits is attached as Exhibit A. 
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8. The Debtor filed a Chapter 11 Bankruptcy in 2013, BKY No.: 13-32591.  The 

United States Bankruptcy Court for the District of Minnesota confirmed the Debtor’s Plan of 

Reorganization on December 4, 2013.  A copy of the Order and Notice Approving Disclosure 

Statement, Confirming Plan and Fixing Time Limits is attached as Exhibit B. 

9. The Debtor received a letter from the U.S. Department of the Treasury dated 

May 16, 2017 stating that the Debtor had been overpaid by Medicare in the amount of $158,504.98. 

10. On or about June 6, 2017, the U.S. Treasury commenced applying payments that 

were due to the Debtor from the Department of Veterans Affairs for current services to an alleged 

delinquent debt. 

11. Based on information and belief, the alleged delinquent debt owed to Medicare 

is the result of an audit conducted by Medicare approximately fifteen to sixteen years ago. 

12. Between June 6, 2017 and the Petition Date, the U.S. Treasury took all the funds 

the Debtor was entitled to receive from the Department of Veterans Affairs for a total of 

$107,993.22 and applied the funds to the alleged delinquent debt. 

13. The Debtor did not approve or authorized applying the $107,993.22 to the 

alleged delinquent debt. 

14. A portion of the sums referenced herein were taken by the U.S. Treasury 

subsequent to the Petition Date of the Bankruptcy case and in violation of 11 U.S.C. §362. 

COUNT I – PREFERENTIAL TRANSFERS 

11 U.S.C. §§ 547, 550, 551 and 1107 

15. The Debtor realleges and incorporates by reference the preceding paragraphs 

of the Complaint as if fully set forth herein. 
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16. On or within 90 days before the Petition Date, the U.S. Treasury transferred 

interests of the Debtor’s property to itself, for its benefit, including but not limited to 

$104,508.58 of accounts receivable due from the Department of Veterans Affairs (whether one 

or more, collectively the “Preferential Transfers”). 

17. The Preferential Transfers were made for or on account of one or more 

alleged antecedent debts owed by the Debtor to Medicare before such Preferential Transfers 

were made, and were made while the Debtor was insolvent. 

18. Plaintiff has the authority and duty to prosecute and collect all avoidance and 

preferential transfers. 

19. The Preferential Transfers are avoidable pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 547, because 

the Preferential Transfers enabled the U.S. Treasury to receive more than it would have received 

if the Preferential Transfers had not been made and had the U.S. Treasury received payment of 

said debt to the extent provided under the provisions of Title 11 of the United States Code. 

20. Plaintiff is entitled to avoid the Preferential Transfers pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 

547 for the benefit of the bankruptcy estate pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 551, and recover the 

Preferential Transfers from Defendants pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 550. 

21. As a result of the forgoing, the Debtor is entitled to judgment pursuant to 

Bankruptcy Code §§ 547(b), 550(a), 551 and 1107: (a) avoiding and preserving the Preferential 

Transfers free and clear form any claimed interest of the Defendants, (b) directing that the 

Preferential Transfers be set aside, (c) recovering such Preferential Transfers or the value thereof 

from the U.S. Treasury for the benefit of the bankruptcy estate of the Debtor, and (c) recovering 

attorneys’ fees from the U.S. Treasury. 
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COUNT II – DISALLOWANCE 

11 U.S.C. § 502(b) and (d) 

22. The Debtor realleges and incorporates by reference the preceding paragraphs of 

the Complaint as if fully set forth herein.  

23. The actions of the Defendants are contrary to the provisions of 11 U.S. C. §524 

and U.S.C. §1141.  The actions of the Defendants are barred by applicable Federal Statutes of 

Limitation. 

24. To the extent that the Defendants assert they are entitled to any claim in this 

Bankruptcy Case, such claim is unenforceable against the Debtor or the property of the Debtor 

under any agreement or applicable law and should be disallowed under 11 U.S.C. § 502(b). 

25. Per 11 U.S.C. § 502 (d), the Court should disallow any claim of Defendants to 

Debtor’s bankruptcy estate unless and until Defendants pay the amount of the Preferential Transfer 

to Plaintiff. 

26. As a result of the foregoing, to the extent that the Defendants assert they are 

entitled to any claim in this Bankruptcy Case, all such claims are and should be in all things 

disallowed. 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully requests this Court enter judgment in favor of 

Plaintiff and against the Defendants as follows: 

A. On Count I – Preferential Transfer, pursuant to 11 U.S.C. §§ 547, 550, 551 and 

1107:  (a) avoiding and preserving the Preferential Transfer free and clear from 

any claimed interest of the Defendants, (b) directing that the Preferential 

Transfer be set aside, (c) recovering such Preferential Transfer or the value 

thereof from the Defendants for the benefit of the bankruptcy estate, and (d) 
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recovering attorneys’ fees from the Defendants; 

B. On Count II – Disallowance, pursuant to 11 U.S.C. §502(b) and (d):  declaring 

and ordering that, to the extent that the Defendants assert they are entitled to 

any claim in this Bankruptcy Case, all such claims are in all things disallowed; 

C. Awarding Plaintiff all applicable interest (including prejudgment and post-

judgment interest), attorneys’ fees, costs and disbursements in this action; and; 

D. Granting Plaintiff such other, further and different relief as the Court deems 

just, proper and equitable. 

       STEVEN B. NOSEK, P.A. 
 
Dated:  October 3, 2017.     /e/ Steven B. Nosek                           

Steven B. Nosek, (#79960) 
Yvonne R. Doose, (#397066) 
2855 Anthony Lane South, Suite 201 
St. Anthony, MN 55418 
Phone: (612) 335-9171 
Fax: (612) 789-2109 
snosek@noseklawfirm.com 
ydoose@noseklawfirm.com 
 

      ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF 

 

Case 17-32654    Doc 38    Filed 10/03/17    Entered 10/03/17 13:47:11    Desc Main
 Document      Page 6 of 9



Case 17-32654    Doc 38    Filed 10/03/17    Entered 10/03/17 13:47:11    Desc Main
 Document      Page 7 of 9



Case 17-32654    Doc 38    Filed 10/03/17    Entered 10/03/17 13:47:11    Desc Main
 Document      Page 8 of 9



Case 17-32654    Doc 38    Filed 10/03/17    Entered 10/03/17 13:47:11    Desc Main
 Document      Page 9 of 9


